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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Richmond Division 
 
In re:      * 
      * 
DORI DANYELLE WINGATE  * Case No. 15-35033-KLP 
      * Chapter 13 
      * 

Debtor.    * 
____________________________________________________________   
DORI DANYELLE WINGATE,  * 
individually and on behalf of a class of * 
similarly situated individuals,   * 

* 
Plaintiff,    * 

v.      * Adv. Pro. No. 17-04453-KLP 
* 

BLUECHIP FINANCIAL,   * 
D/B/A SPOTLOAN, et al.   *  

* 
Defendants.    * 

 
 

MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT AGAINST BLUECHIP FINANCIAL 
AND SUPPORTING MEMORANDUM 

 
 Defendant BlueChip Financial d/b/a Spotloan (“BlueChip”), by counsel, files this motion 

to dismiss the Complaint filed against it by Dori Danyelle Wingate (“Plaintiff”) because 

Plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P 

12(b)(6), incorporated by reference into Fed. R. Bankr. P. 7012, and in support thereof, states as 

follows:  
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I. Background	
 

On June 13, 2017, the Plaintiff filed a complaint [Docket No. 1] (“Complaint”) against 

BlueChip and American InfoSource LP (“American InfoSource”). Plaintiff alleges that the 

proof of claim filed in her bankruptcy case by American InfoSource LP on behalf of BlueChip 

failed to disclose that the claim included interest and lacked supporting documentation, in 

purported violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) and Federal Rule of 

Bankruptcy Procedure 3001. The only count asserted against BlueChip is Count II for violation 

of Rule 3001. The Complaint against BlueChip must be dismissed for failure to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted because there is no private right of action for an alleged 

violation of Rule 3001.  

II. Motion	to	Dismiss	Standard	of	Review	
 

Rule 12(b)(6) permits a party to file a motion asserting that the complaint fails to state a 

claim upon which relief can be granted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). “To survive a motion to 

dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to 

relief that is plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. 

Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “The plausibility standard is not akin to a 

‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted 

unlawfully.” Id. “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that 

allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct 

alleged.” Id. “[W]hen the allegations in a complaint, however true, could not raise a claim of 

entitlement to relief, this basic deficiency should be exposed at the point of minimum 

expenditure of time and money by the parties and the court.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 558 

(quotation and citation omitted).  
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In reviewing a motion to dismiss, this Court accepts as true all well-pleaded facts in the 

complaint, but need not accept allegations that are legal conclusions. See Walters v. McMahen, 

684 F.3d 435, 439 (4th Cir. 2012) (“The mere recital of elements of a cause of action, supported 

only by conclusory statements, is not sufficient to survive a motion made pursuant to Rule 

12(b)(6).”) (citing Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678). Even accepting as true all of the factual allegations 

contained in the Complaint, Count II against BlueChip fails to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted and should be dismissed with prejudice. 

III. Argument	
 

A. Rule	 3001	 does	 not	 create	 a	 private	 right	 of	 action,	warranting	
dismissal	of	the	Complaint	against	BlueChip	for	a	failure	to	state	a	claim.		
 
In Count II, Plaintiff alleges that BlueChip violated Rule 3001(c) of the Federal Rules of 

Bankruptcy Procedure. ¶¶ 63-79. These claims must be dismissed because a violation of Rule 

3001 does not give rise to a private cause of action.  

Rule 3001(c), among other things, requires that a claim based on a writing include a copy 

of such writing and requires that a claim that includes interest set forth an itemized statement of 

such interest. The remedies for a violation of Rule 3001(c) are identified in Rule 3001(c)(2)(D): 

If the holder of a claim fails to provide any information required by this 
subdivision (c), the court may, after notice and hearing, take either or both of the 
following actions: 
 

(i) preclude the holder from presenting the omitted information, in any 
form, as evidence in any contested matter or adversary proceeding in the 
case, unless the court determines that the failure was substantially justified 
or is harmless; or  
 
(ii) award other appropriate relief, including reasonable expenses and 
attorney’s fees caused by the failure. 
 

Fed. R. Bankr. P. Rule 3001(c)(2)(D).  
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 “This provision was added to Rule 3001 in 2011. While it specifically mentions an award 

of expenses and attorney’s fees, there is nothing in the language which indicates that Congress 

intended to create an independent action for the violation of Rule 3001. It appears clear enough 

from this language that this is a remedy which may be awarded in connection with a proceeding 

involving the validity of a claim and it does not create a stand-alone cause of action.” Critten v. 

Quantum3 Group, LLC (In re Critten), 528 B.R. 835, 840 (2015); see also In re Poteet, No. 08-

14936, 2011 WL 3626696, at *3 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn. Aug. 17, 2011) (“Rule 3001 does not 

provide a remedy for a failure to comply with subdivision (c), and there is no basis for creating a 

private right of action under the rule.”); Rogers v. B–Real, L.L. C. (In re Rogers), 391 B.R. 317, 

322–23 (Bankr. M.D. La. 2008) (dismissing claim for damages for filing proof of claim without 

supporting documentation and citing cases holding that there is no private right of action for 

damages for filing a false proof of claim), rev'd on other grounds, 405 B.R. 428 (M.D. La. 

2009). 

 There is a considerable body of case law holding that Rule 3001 does not provide for the 

disallowance of a claim as a sanction for non-compliance with the Rule. Critten, 528 B.R. at 840; 

In re Reynolds, 470 B.R. 138, 145 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012) ( “Because claim disallowance falls 

outside of the remedies enumerated under Rule 3001(c)(2)(D), the rule precludes such a 

remedy.”); Kelley v. FIA Card Servcs, N.A. (In re Khatibi), Civ. No. 5:14–CV–44,2014 WL 

2617280, *5 (M.D.Ga. June 12, 2014) (holding that a claim will not be disallowed solely because 

of the failure to comply with Rule 3001); see also In re Wheeler, Case No. 12–12454, 2013 WL 

2404003, *3 (Bankr. E.D. Tenn. May 31, 2013); In re Gorman, 495 B.R. 823, 829 (Bankr. 

E.D.Tenn. 2013); In re Brunson, 486 B.R. 759, 769 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2013); In re Dunlap, Case 

No. 12–30710, 2013 WL 5497047, *1 (Bankr. D. Colo. Oct 3, 2013); In re Rehman, 479 B.R. 
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238, 242 (Bankr. D. Mass. 2012); Hall v. Roundup Funding, LLC (In re Hall), Case No. 10–

98992–MGD, 2011 WL 1933752, *2 (Bankr. N.D. Ga. Apr. 4, 2011). 

 In accordance with this body of case law, this Court has likewise held that disallowance 

is not a remedy under Rule 3001. “Mere non-compliance with the informational requirements of 

Rule 3001 such as attachment of documentation or providing specific information should not be, 

in and of itself, grounds to disallow the claim.” In re Goeller, No. 12-17123-RGM, 2013 WL 

3064594, at *3 (Bankr. E.D. Va. June 19, 2013). Instead, this Court has relied on provisions of 

the Bankruptcy Code—specifically sections 105 and 502—when considering whether to disallow 

a claim. See Maddux v. Midland Credit Management, Inc. for Midland Funding (In re Maddux), 

LLC, 567 B.R. 489, 499 (2016) (declining to disallow a claim that violated Rule 3001 under 11 

U.S.C. § 105 because the creditor did not willfully file false claims); Commonwealth 

Biotechnologies, Inc. v. Fornova Pharmworld, Inc. (In re Commonwealth Biotechnologies, Inc.), 

No. 11-30381-KRH, 2012 WL 5385632, at *5-6 (Bankr. E.D. Va. Nov. 1, 2012) (disallowing a 

claim that violated Rule 3001 under 11 U.S.C. § 502(b)(1) because the claimant was not entitled 

to enforce the note under Virginia law); In re Varona, 388 B.R. 705, 714-717, 723-724 (Bankr. 

E.D. Va. 2008) (declining to award sanctions under 11 U.S.C. § 105 because the claims were 

neither false nor fraudulent).  

 Given that failure to comply with the requirements of Rule 3001 is not alone grounds to 

disallow a claim, it necessarily follows that the more severe remedy of an independent cause of 

action is not available for non-compliance with Rule 3001. In re Davenport, 544 B.R. 245, 253 

(Bankr. D.D.C. 2015) (“[I]f the remedy for noncompliance is not disallowance of the claim, it 

necessarily follows that the much greater remedy of an independent cause of action is likewise 

not allowed.”) (quoting Critten, 528 B.R. at 840). “Examination of Bankruptcy Rule 3001 does 
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not indicate any intention to create a private right of action. Rule 3001 is a claims processing rule 

intended to aid the Court in determining whether a given bankruptcy claim should be allowed. . . 

To infer a free standing cause of action from this provision would be to stretch the rule beyond 

its breaking point.” Critten, 528 B.R. at 841 

 Plaintiff has not alleged that BlueChip has violated a provision of the Bankruptcy Code, 

such as section 105 or 502, which were at issue in the Maddux, Commonwealth Biotechnologies, 

and Varona cases before this Court. However, such allegations would not save Plaintiff’s 

Complaint, because neither section 105 nor section 502 creates a private cause of action. The 

Supreme Court established four factors to be considered in determining whether a private right of 

action exists for breach of a federal statute: (1) whether the plaintiff is a member of a class for 

whose special benefit the statute was enacted; (2) whether there is any explicit or implicit 

indication of congressional intent to create or deny a private remedy; (3) whether a private 

remedy would be consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislative scheme; and (4) 

whether the cause of action is one traditionally relegated to state law. In Cort v. Ash, 422 U.S. 

66, 95 S.Ct. 2080, 45 L.Ed.2d 26 (1975). According to the Fourth Circuit, “the weightiest factor 

in determining whether a statute implies a private right of action is whether Congress intended to 

create one.” Clayton v. Raleigh Fed. Sav. Bank, 107 F.3d 865, *1 (4th Cir. 1997) (unpublished) 

(quotations and citations omitted) (declining to find a private cause of action related to a criminal 

statute dealing with filing a false proof of claim in bankruptcy court).  

 Circuit Courts addressing the issue have specifically held that section 105 of the 

Bankruptcy Code does not create a private right of action. Solow v. Kalikow (In re Kalikow), 602 

F.3d 82, 97 (2d Cir. 2010) (“We therefore must reject Kalikow’s argument that § 105 serves as 

an independent basis for awarding sanctions without violation of § 524(a)(2) or another 
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provision of the Bankruptcy Code.”); Joubert v. ABN AMRO Mortgage Group, Inc. (In re 

Joubert), 411 F.3d 452, 457 (3d Cir. 2005) (“§ 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code does not afford 

debtors a private cause of action to remedy alleged violations of § 506(b)”); Walls v. Wells 

Fargo Bank, N.A., 276 F.3d 502, 507-10 (9th Cir. 2002) (concluding that § 105 does not allow 

for a private right of action to enforce § 524); Pertuso v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 233 F.3d 417, 

421-23, 432 n.1 (6th Cir. 2000) (“Section 105 undoubtedly vests bankruptcy courts with 

statutory contempt powers, but it does not authorize the bankruptcy courts to create substantive 

rights that are otherwise unavailable under applicable law.”) (internal quotations and citation 

omitted); Bessette v. Avco Fin. Servs., Inc., 230 F.3d 439, 444-445 (1st Cir. 2000) (“Thus, § 105 

does not itself create a private right of action, but a court may invoke § 105(a) if the equitable 

remedy utilized is demonstrably necessary to preserve a right elsewhere provided in the Code . . 

.”)( internal quotation marks omitted).  

 Nor do the proof of claim sections, §§ 501 and 502 of the Bankruptcy Code, create 

private rights of action. As the Maryland Bankruptcy Court aptly explained:  

Plaintiff contends that pursuant to §§ 105 and 501 of the Bankruptcy Code she is entitled 
to damages because the Defendant filed a “false and fraudulent” proof of claim. Nothing 
in those statutory provisions supports such a claim. The proper procedure for a debtor to 
follow upon the filing of a proof of claim that the debtor believes to be “false and 
fraudulent” is to send the 21–day notice under Fed. R. Bankr. P. 9011(c)(1)(A), and then 
seek sanctions if it is not withdrawn. Alternatively, a debtor could seek disallowance of 
the claim by following the claims objection procedure outlined in Local Rule 3007–1 and 
the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure. These procedural devices are more than 
sufficient to protect debtors from the filing of allegedly “false and fraudulent” proofs of 
claim and obviate the need to file a separate adversary proceeding. 

 
Smith v. Oak Grove Utility Co., LLC (In re Smith), No. 08–137, 2009 WL 115293. at *4 (Bankr. 

D. Md. Jan. 16, 2009).  
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 Here, Plaintiff may avail herself of the remedies provided by the Rules and the Code, if 

appropriate. Neither the Rules nor the Code, however, create a private cause of action for 

violation of Rule 3001. Therefore, Count II must be dismissed for failure to state a claim.  

IV. Reservation	of	Rights	
 

A. Arbitration.		
 

On July 28, 2017, American InfoSource invoked its right to arbitrate this dispute pursuant 

to the binding Arbitration Clause in the Loan Agreement between Plaintiff and BlueChip. 

BlueChip is still evaluating whether to join in American InfoSource’s request to arbitrate. By 

filing this Motion to Dismiss, BlueChip does not waive its right to invoke the Arbitration Clause 

and specifically reserves its right to enforce the Arbitration Clause. See Wheeling Hosp., Inc. v. 

Health Plan of the Upper Ohio Valley, Inc., 683 F.3d 577, 586-87 (4th Cir. 2012). 

B. Tribal	Immunity.		
 

BlueChip is organized under the laws of the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians, 

and is therefore entitled to assert tribal sovereign immunity. By filing this Motion to Dismiss, 

BlueChip does not waive its right to invoke tribal sovereign immunity and specifically reserves 

its right to request dismissal on the grounds of tribal sovereign immunity. See e.g., McCray v. 

Maryland Dept. of Transp., Maryland Transit Admin., 741 F.3d 480, 483 (4th Cir. 2014) (“ Our 

case law is clear that “because of its jurisdictional nature, a court ought to consider the issue of 

Eleventh Amendment immunity at any time, even sua sponte.”) (citation and quotations 

omitted).  

V. Memorandum	of	Points	and	Authorities	
 

Pursuant to Local Bankruptcy Rule 9013-1(G), BlueChip’s Motion to Dismiss and 

supporting memorandum of points and authorities have been combined in this single pleading.  
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WHEREFORE, BlueChip, by counsel, respectfully requests the Court enter an order 

dismissing Count II against BlueChip, and providing such additional relief as the Court finds 

appropriate.  

  
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
      BLUE CHIP FINANCIAL  
      By Counsel  

 

By:  /s/ Lauren Friend McKelvey   
 Lauren Friend McKelvey (VSB No. 78813)  
 Counsel for BlueChip Financial  
 ODIN FELDMAN & PITTLEMAN PC 
 1775 Wiehle Avenue, Suite 400 
 Reston, Virginia 20190 
 Phone: 703-218-2135 
 Fax: 703-218-2160 
 Email: Lauren.McKelvey@ofplaw.com  

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 31st day of July, 2017, a true and accurate copy of the 
foregoing Motion to Dismiss was served via Notice of Electronic Filing upon counsel for 
Plaintiff and American InfoSource pursuant to this Court’s CM/ECF policy. 

 
/s/ Lauren Friend McKelvey 
Lauren Friend McKelvey  

  #3542246v3    086904/000001   
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